1990

Michele McIverBell v. Harold Freeman Bell : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

The final divorce decree from which this appeal is taken was signed by the court on March 8, 1990. The Notice of Appeal was filed on April 3, 1990.

This court has jurisdiction over the appeal in this matter by virtue of the Constitution of Utah, Article VIII, Section 1 et seq., Section 78-2A-1, et seq. Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended), and Rule 3 R. Utah Ct. App.

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from a final divorce decree signed and entered by Judge F.L. Gunnell of the First Judicial District Court of Cache County, State of Utah.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court committed error, given the length of the marriage, the earning of a Master's degree by respondent during their marriage with appellant's help, the disparate financial circumstances and earning ability of the parties, needs of the parties and relative standards of living of the parties, in awarding appellant only \$6,000 in alimony(

calculated at 250 per month for a period of two years) payable by awarding appellant the personal property in her possession which the court valued at \$6,000.

2. Whether the trial court committed error in the valuation and distribution of the personal property of the parties, because the trial court failed to fully account for the personal property acquired during the marriage, and failed to make a proper finding as to its value.

3. Whether the trial court committed error in not awarding appellant all of her attorney fees and cost presented at the trial court, respondent clearly having the greater income and income earning capacity.

4. Whether appellant is also entitled to an award of attorney fees and cost on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a divorce case.

COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

Both parties were awarded a divorce on November 15, 1989. A final divorce decree was entered on March 8, 1990. An appeal of the alimony, property division and attorney fees and cost award was filed on April 3, 1990.

DISPOSITION OF THE TRIAL COURT

Trial was held on November 15, 1989. After the finding of jurisdiction, the presentation of evidence, and the hearing of

testimony from both parties, the trial court granted both parties a divorce on the ground of irreconcilable differences.

The court awarded custody of the parties minor child to the appellant, Michele McIver Bell (hereinafter mother), subject to reasonable visitation rights awarded to the respondent, Harold Freeman Bell (hereinafter father). The father was also ordered to maintain current accident, health, and life insurance on the child, and awarded any savings bonds currently being maintained for the child.

The court ordered the father to continue to pay the mother \$450.00 in child support, an amount previously agreed upon by the parties, which court noted was higher than the child support guidelines. The father is allowed to claim said child as a dependent on his income tax which is contrary to the child support guidelines.

The court awarded the parties real property to the father, after finding that the said real property really has no equity.

The trial court awarded the mother \$6,000.00 in alimony, payable at \$250.00 per month for two years. In making the order, the court stated that it found this divorce to be unusual in that the parties pursued separate careers and has had a history of marital problems. The court found the parties standard of living was "artificially established" and not helpful in its guidance. Also, the court found that due to depleted assets and significant debts, their individual earning capacities was their only asset. In arriving at the above stated alimony figure, the court found

the mother's needs to be a "great deal", and the father's ability to provide "essentially nothing". The court explained that the two year period was to provide the mother with a period of time to adjust to the fact that she will be solely dependant on her income thereafter. However, in lieu of the awarded alimony, the court awarded Ms. Bell all personal property in her possession as described by Mr. Bell's exhibit number 14, with the exception to three items in Mr. Bell's possession. The court, in making such an arrangement did not determine the value of all of the parties personal property, and acknowledged that there was some question as to the value of the property. However, the court stated that the values assigned by the parties were not challenged, and there were no other alternatives. The effect was to distribute the parties personal property according to possession.

Finding that the parties have essentially established separate identities, financially and otherwise, and the parties individual debts to be roughly equal, the court ordered each party to assume all debts and obligations in their own name.

The mother was awarded half of the father's retirement in the military acquired during the marriage to be divided when withdrawn, subject to a deduction of \$3,800.00 which represents the father's share of the mother's retirement fund that she liquidated just prior to the divorce proceeding to support herself.

Finding the father to have a limited ability to generate money, but acknowledging that the court has not required him to

pay many of out-of-pocket expenses in the decree, the court ordered him to pay \$800.00 of the mother's attorney fees and cost.

The court found the mother's salary to be \$1,500 per month, based upon her past earnings as a teacher which she has had to forego for approximately two years while she pursued her Master's degree at Utah State University where she received \$863.00 per month as a teaching assistant.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. The parties were married on June 5, 1979 in Logan, Utah. The mother filed for divorce on March 3, 1989. A decree granting the parties a divorce was entered on March 8, 1990.

2. During the course of the marriage, one child was born on August 28, 1990 to the parties, to wit. Stephanie Bell. Now six years of age.

3. The father is currently a Major in the Air Force, stationed at Holloman Air Force Base located in New Mexico, (Transcript, page 4, lines 12-15) with a current monthly salary of \$3,660.00, or approximately \$40,000.00 yearly. (Transcript, page 14, lines 11-16.)

4. The mother was completeing a Masters degree at Utah State University in education, (Transcript, page 9, lines 11-13; and page 11, lines 24-25.) receiving \$863.00 per month as a teaching assistant. (Transcript, page 9, lines 14-16)

5. During the course of the parties approximately eleven year marriage, Mr. Bell earned a Masters Degree, (Transcript, page 13, lines 5-6.), which assisted him in the advancement of his military career. (Transcript, page 165, lines 15-19.) The earning of the degree was a result of a joint effort from both parties. While Mr. Bell continued to work and provide for the family financially, Ms. Bell assisted Mr. Bell with his school work. (Transcript, page 13, line 5-13, and page 165, lines 9-14.) The parties agreed the mother would assist the father with his course work, and when the mother decided to return for her graduate degree, the father would help her. (Transcript, page 13, lines 5-13.)

6. The mother began that effort to earn her Master's degree while the parties were married, but she did not receive any support from the father. (Transcript, page 14, lines 1-6.)

7. The mother wants to continue her education and earn her Ph.D., which would allow her more flexibility in a work schedule and increase her potential salary, both of which would be beneficial to the child of the parties. (Transcript, page 12, lines 9-16.)

8. The parties were seperated several times during their marriage because of the fathers abusive action, and due to military assignments overseas. (Transcript, page 40, lines 5-8.)

9. The mother started classes at Utah State approximately in the fall of 1988. (Transcript, page 41, lines 8-11.)

11. While Mr. Bell was stationed in Korea from 1987 to 1988 he gave the mother between \$1,600.00 to \$1,800.00 per month. (Transcript, page 166, lines 16-18.) After the father returned from Korea, he refused to provide Ms. Bell with any further financial support because she had decided on attending Utah State without any discussion with him, (Transcript, page 154, line 23.). By agreement he did pay her \$450.00 per month in child support for their daughter.

12. Prior to Ms. Bell coming to Utah State University, she taught school in North Carolina for seven years where she had accumulated \$7,600.00 in a retirement fund. In February, 1990, she needed money for living expenses and was forced to liquidate her retirement fund. (Transcript, page 32, lines 12-17.) \$4,000.00 of the fund she used for living expenses incurred prior to arriving in Logan to attend Utah State. The balance was used for living expenses she incurred while in Logan, Utah, because she was receiving no support from Mr. Bell. (Transcript, page 33, lines 9-18.)

13. While in Korea Mr. Bell purchased a dining room suite. When he returned to New Mexico he purchased a stereo, refrigerator, washer and dryer, (Transcript, page 158, lines 5-9.), which he did not list as marital property. (Transcript, page 169, lines 18-22.) Mr. Bell was also awarded a 1986 truck purchased during the marriage. (Transcript, page 182, lines 24-25.)

14. The personal property in Ms. Bells' possession is largely furniture approximately years old, being purchased when the parties were married. (Transcript, page, 23, lines 19-21.) A list of the furniture is shown on Ms. Bell's exhibit 10. Ms. Bell also has two automobiles one of which is no longer operating, and was purchased for \$500.00 when she arrived in Logan, Utah. (Transcript, page 16, line 5-14.) Her other vehicle, the 1982 Datsun, is located in North Carolina, being untrustworthy to drive across the country in. (Transcript, page 22, lines 19-23.)

15. Mr. Bell agreed that Ms. Bell's attorney fees and cost are reasonable, and that the case was "unduly" complicated, but refused to assume her fees and cost asserting that, essentially, the divorce is her fault. (Transcript, page 132, lines 3-19.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. As a result of the courts failure to adequately and fairly consider the financial circumstances of the parties, and the contribution of each party to the marriage, the court abused its discretion by awarding Ms. Bell only \$6,000 in alimony. Such abuse of discretion was compounded by the fact that in lieu of cash payments of \$250 per month for a two year period, which equals \$6,000, Ms. Bell was awarded the personal property in her possession, which the court found to be valued at \$6,000.

2. Due to the trial courts failure to make a full account and valuation of the marital property involved in this

case, the courts ordered distribution of the ma inequitable and constitutes an abuse of its discretion.

3. The courts award of only \$800.00 in attorney fees and cost constitutes an abuse of its discretion in that all the evidence presented sufficiently demonstrated that fees and cost were reasonable, Ms. Bells' need, and that Mr. Bell was able to provide for that need.

4. Because the final decree was grossly inequitable, Ms. Bell was forced to appeal the decree to defend her interest. Such actions constitute reasonable and good faith grounds upon which the appeal is pursued, and since Mr. Bell is able to provide and Ms. Bell is not, she should be awarded fees and cost on appeal.

ARGUMENT

I.
BECAUSE OF THE PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES OF
BOTH PARTIES, WITH MR. BELL CLEARLY
HAVING THE GREATER EARNING ABILITY,
MS. BELL SHOULD HAVE BEEN AWARDED
MORE THAN \$6,000 IN ALIMONY.

In 1985, the Utah Supreme Court, in the case of Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072 (Utah 1985), following precedent set forth in the case of English v. English, 565 P.2d 409 (Utah 1977), firmly established and thoroughly analyzed the three factors that must be considered in determining whether an alimony award is fair and reasonable. The three factors are: 1) the financial conditions and needs of the wife; 2) the ability of the wife to

produce a sufficient income for herself; and 3) the ability of the husband to provide support.

In applying these three factors to this case it become clear that the trial court failed the adequately consider the facts of this case in light of the three factors. Moreover, the record makes apparent that as to Mr. Bells' ability to pay, the trial courts abuse of discretion is obvious.

Ms. Bells present financial circumstance is depressed and even after the completion of her schooling will not be anywhere comparable in earnings to what she could have had had she not sacraficed to help Mr. Bell during their eleven year marriage her needs are great. Nevertheless the court awarded her only \$6,000 in alimony. Ms. Bell is a single parent and a graduate student at Utah State University. Her budget, plaintiff's exhibit 9, reflects that her monthly expense is approximately \$2,493.00. To put this figure in context, it is proper to reduce the figure by \$450.00, the amount of child support awarded, as the figure contemplates the expenses for the parties child. This would leave Ms. Bell with a monthly expense of \$2043.00.

Ms. Bell's income amounts to only \$863.00 a month from her job as a graduate teaching assistant. The figures balanced, leave Ms. Bell with a monthly debt of \$1180 per month. This order substantially reduces the standard of living Ms. Bell and the child once enjoyed during the course of the eleven year marriage.

Further compelling is that some of the debts which appear on Ms. Bell's monthly budget are debts that she incurred in the remaining year and a half of the marriage in order to maintain herself while completing her Masters degree. This is so, because during the last year and half the the father refused to provide the her with any support except \$450.00 per month which the father made clear was solely intended as child support.

Considering the second factor. The trial court found that Ms. Bell's salary to be \$1,500 per month. Such a figure is a historical salary based on what she made as a high school teacher in North Carolina. While this may reflect her earning ability, it is improper and unfair to use the historical figure based on the circumstance of the marriage and Ms. Bells' current particular situation.

In Martinez v. Martinez, 754 P.2d 69 (Utah App. 1988), the appellant, inter alia, appealed an alimony award. During the course of the parties marriage, the defendant husband secured a medical degree. The court found that the degree enabled him to earn approximately \$100,000 per year. Prior to the earning of the medical degree, the parties endured a poor standard of living. This court found that relatively small alimony award could be justified based on the Ms. Bells' previous standard of living, however, "But such a result is unfair. A divorce court is a court of equity. It is not equitable to preserve the status of limited income for one party and affluence for the other when the one sacrificed to help the other achieve such affluence."

Id. at 74. While Martinez is factually distinguishable from this case, the inequity of using appellants historical earnings to mitigate the alimony award is analogous to the rational used in Martinez.

During the parties ten year marriage Mr. Bell earned a Masters degree. While he did so at night and on the weekends so that he could continue to work full time, such luxury was only possible due to Ms. Bells' enormous contribution of taking care of the household, their child, and assisting Mr. Bell in his course work. In other words, the efforts that went into earning Mr. Bell's Masters degree was a joint effort from both parties. Undoubtedly, as a result of Mr. Bell's Masters degree his earning ability has increased as well as his ability to move up in rank in the military.

Now Ms. Bell is completing her Masters degree, and desires to continue to earn a doctorate degree so that both her and the child's future will be promising. While she is completing her Masters degree she did not receive the same support from Mr. Bell. Without any financial support from her husband and no time to maintain employment, Ms. Bell incurred debts and even had to withdraw her retirement from her past employment in order to meet living expenses.

Now the parties are divorced. Mr. Bell and the trial court deem it fair that Ms. Bell should only receive \$6,000 in alimony based, among other things, on her past earning ability. While such an equation may work in most cases, here, because Ms. Bells'

current needs are significantly comprised of debts she incurred while in graduate school, during which time Mr. Bell provided no financial support, to use her earning ability to mitigate the alimony award overlooks Ms. Bells' contribution to Mr. Bell's Masters degree and his neglect in failing to providing any financial support while she was earning her Masters degree. Certainly, \$6,000 would not cover the expenses Ms. Bell incurred for the year and a half Mr. Bell neglected to provide her with financial support. In other words, it "preserve[s] the status of limited income for one party and affluence for the other..." Id. at 74. Thus, since Ms. Bell "sacrificed to help" Mr. Bell achieve his personal and career growth, he in turn should at least be required to support her in achieving hers. Ms. Bell deserves at least an amount equal to the costs she incurred in gaining her degree, which surely would be greater than the \$6,000 awarded.

As to the third factor, the ability of Mr. Bell to provide support, the court's error and abuse could not be clearer. The trial record reflects that Mr. Bell indicated that his current salary is \$3,660 per month or roughly \$40,000 per year. As far as monthly expenses, Mr. Bell purports to have a monthly expense of \$5,090. The accuracy of this figure is suspect. In regards to a balance Mr. Bell owes on a debt to the Air Force for a salary advance, he listed a balance of \$2,000 in his exhibit. However, in questioning, his response was \$1,200.(Transcript page 160, lines 11-17.) He qualified the

conflict in figures by stating that deductions have been coming out directly every month from his salary. This leads one to believe that perhaps the \$5,090 is quite inflated. Nevertheless, when itemized, the figure seems unreasonable.

In any event, the trial court concluded that Mr. Bell could pay "essentially nothing". (Transcript page 182, lines 8-9.) In Jones, 700 P.2d 1072 (Utah 1985), the Utah Supreme Court stated that the trial court should have taken into account the "legitimate and reasonable needs" as they relate to the defendant and his ability to pay. Although in Jones the cost pertained to respondent's business expenses as they related to his ability to pay, here the situation is no different. Mr. Bell's expenses relate to his personal cost as they relate to his ability to pay. The fact that the court concluded that Mr. Bell could pay "essentially nothing" from a \$40,000 per year salary undoubtedly makes questionable whether the trial court made a "reasonable and legitimate" assessment of his cost, and consequently, his ability to pay alimony.

Considered collectively, these factors can only lead to the belief that the trial court, through oversight or mistake, abused its discretion and awarded an alimony amount far below a reasonable and justified figure.

More disturbing, is that in lieu of a cash award, the court awarded Ms. Bell all the personal property in her possession thereby negating the alimony award altogether.

The trial court distributed the personal property of the marriage according to who had possession. The court valued the personal property in Ms. Bell's possession at \$6,000.00, but did not value the property in Mr. Bell's possession. The court then used the personal property awarded, half of which belonged to Ms. Bell as full satisfaction of the alimony payments.

By doing so, the trial court used in the personal property distribution twice, which consequently, had the effect of not awarding any alimony at all.

Therefore, not only did the trial court improperly evaluate the three factors articulated in English and Jones to arrive at an inequitable alimony award, but moreover, by using Ms. Bell's share of the personal property to satisfy the alimony award, such arrangement had the effect of denying Ms. Bell any of the alimony award that the court just awarded.

II.

BECAUSE THE COURT FAILED TO ACCURATELY
ACCOUNT FOR AND VALUE THE INVOLVED MARITAL PROPERTY,
AND FAILED TO CONSIDER MS. BELL'S EXHIBITS
IN THE ASSESSMENT OF THE VALUES OF THE
SAID PROPERTY, THE COURT ABUSED ITS
DISCRETION IN THE VALUATION AND DISTRIBUTION
OF THE PROPERTY OF THE MARRIAGE.

In Boyle v. Boyle, 735 P.2d 669 (Utah App. 1987), this court stated that in some cases, failure to include property valuations constitute an abuse of discretion sufficient to require remand for determination of values. This was an agreement with the rationale articulated by the Utah Supreme Court in the case of Jones, 700 P.2d 1072 (Utah 1985). However, in both cases the

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