1990

Michele McIver Bell v. Harold Freman Bell : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The Court did not abuse its discretion in awarding \$250 per month for alimony during a two-year period to the appellant wife in view of the nature of this marriage in which each party essentially maintained their own life, where the parties have lived separately for over half of the marriage, and where Appellant has already expended a large portion of the marital assets for her own purposes.

2. The lower court did not abuse its discretion in the property distribution in light of the circumstances of the marriage, the almost non-existent equity of any property acquired

during the marriage, and the high debt service incurred by both parties.

3. The lower court did not abuse its discretion in its award of attorneys' fees to Appellant in light of the financial circumstances of each party as well as the expenses incurred in litigation by each party.

4. Appellant should not be awarded attorneys' fees on this appeal since her arguments are without merit and she cannot be a prevailing party.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ITS AWARD OF ALIMONY TO THE APPELLANT.

Trial courts have broad discretion in awarding alimony. An appellate court will not disturb the trial court's alimony award so long as the trial court exercises its discretion within the standards set by the appellate court. Osguthorpe v. Osguthorpe, 131 Utah Adv. Rep. 21, 22 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

"The purposes of an alimony award include enabling the receiving spouse to maintain, as nearly as possible, the standard of living enjoyed during the marriage," and preventing him or her from becoming a public charge. Munns v. Munns, 131 Utah Adv. Rep. 88, 90 (Utah Ct. App. 1990; Noble v. Noble, 761 P.2d 1369, 1372 (Utah 1988)). The standard for alimony as noted by Appellant has been established by the Utah Supreme Court and by this Court in numerous cases. (Appellant's Brief, pp. 9-10). If the trial court considers these factors in setting an award of

alimony this Court will not disturb its award absent a showing that such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion. Munns v. Munns, 131 Adv. Rep. at 90. These facts may be derived from the actual factual findings of the court or from the record itself when it is clear and uncontroverted and capable of supporting only a finding in favor of the judgment. Acton v. Delirian, 737 P.2d 996, 999 (Utah 1987).

Before addressing the arguments raised by Appellant it is well to note the observations made by the trial court concerning the uniqueness of this marriage. The Court stated:

As to alimony, I need to make an observation. As you have indicated both of you, this is not an ordinary situation. Each of you have had and pursued separate careers or there has been a history of marital problems. It appears to me that the only thing you really have in common is the child. And you have both quarreled over financial affairs. And I have to observe that whatever standard of living that you have had is one that has been based on borrowed money and depleted assets on both parts. And as I sit here and look at both of your financial statements and your debt structure and your obligations that you have, the bulk of it is repaying loans and you dissipated savings, you've dissipated settlements, you've dissipated apparently every asset that you ever had, and your only source now is your individual earning capacity.

I find that unfortunate, but it's a reality. I observe that because to make an alimony award requires that you find a number of things, at least three. And the courts have said that you have to find the financial conditions--needs of the receiving spouse in this case. The ability of the receiving spouse to provide an income for herself, and then the ability of the providing spouse to do so. Certainly, and there has been reference to a standard of living.

The standard of living I find to have been established artificially. To note be realistic in any way, shape or form for either of the parties. It appears to me that if you wanted something, you bought

it and waited to see what tomorrow brought. And tomorrow comes right now. And this is the time of accountability. And so the standard of living I find has really not been very helpful and to not have existed over an extended period of time because of the fact that you have essentially maintained separate households, coming together for convenience from time to time. And that's a troubling thing for the court, but it's a reality that I am faced with.

So what I will do is, as far as alimony, is in lieu of alimony, and I sat down and computed what the defendant could pay, which is essentially nothing, what the plaintiff needed, which is a great deal, and asked how it could be paid. (Tr. pp. 180-82).

Thus, the lower court specifically found that the parties in this case lived greatly beyond their means both jointly and individually and that therefore the "standard of living" which they acquired was an artificial one which could not be practicably maintained by either party. The observations of the trial court together with the basic undisputed evidence in the record explain the award given.

Appellant argues that the court had to accept Plaintiff's monthly projected expense of \$2,493.00 as contained in Exhibit 9. Based upon that projection and based upon her then current income as a teaching assistant Appellant argues that she is substantially in debt each month. (Appellant's Brief, pp. 10-11). The court, however, essentially stated that this projected standard of living was not realistic in light of the capacities of the parties. This is especially true since Plaintiff contemplated such luxuries as extensive lessons for her daughter, \$2,400 in travel each year, and nearly \$3,600 in automobile expenses. It can hardly be stated that Exhibit 9 contains either a bare-boned or a realistic budget of Appellant's

needs.

As to the second factor of Appellant's ability to support herself the lower court specifically found her earning capacity to be \$1,500 a month. This figure was based upon her previous nine-month salary as a school teacher with a bachelor's degree. This amount would be much lower than the new salary she would receive should she return to teaching with a newly acquired master's degree which she should have obtained at the time this appeal is argued. Appellant acknowledged that it is her own choice to pursue full-time education rather than to obtain an advanced degree on a part-time basis while teaching school. It is her choice if she wishes to remain a full-time student with no substantial source of income for another three year period rather than returning to North Carolina, obtaining a well-paying job, and pursuing a part-time education.

The reference to the Martinez case contained in Appellant's Brief (Appellant's Brief, p. 11) is inappropriate. First, this case has questionable validity at the moment since certiorari has been granted by the Utah Supreme Court to review the decision. (98 Utah Adv. Rep. 3). More importantly, however, in Martinez the parties lived a very meager life while the wife worked and the husband went to school. Here, to the contrary, the parties lived a standard of living well beyond their means with both parties working and with the husband only attending school on a part-time basis.

The argument made by Appellant that she is entitled to Respondent's support for a degree just as she supported him is

also flawed. (Appellant's Brief, pp. 12-13). First, Respondent did not have the luxury of quitting his full-time job and devoting his whole effort to that of a student. Rather, he was required to work full time and to go to school part time. Appellant wishes a different result by requiring Respondent to support her while she has the luxury of attending school without any full-time job responsibilities.

Second, since Appellant has already obtained her master's degree and has helped pay for it from funds acquired during the marriage she cannot now expect Respondent to pay for an additional three years or more of college. Respondent did not obtain a Ph.D. degree as is now being requested by Appellant.

Third, it was Appellant's own choice to move to Utah to obtain the master's degree. The evidence is uncontroverted that she could have remained in North Carolina or have gone to a school in that proximity which would have substantially reduced her living expenses. In fact, she could have joined Respondent in New Mexico and pursued a degree there. Since the court noted that each individual has basically pursued their own life independent of the other it is certainly not Respondent's obligation to now support her for this optional education effort.

A review of the record clearly shows that Respondent is in deep financial trouble even though he currently makes \$40,000 a year with the Air Force. The North Carolina house together with his own living expense requirements as well as the loans and other debts he incurred during his marriage and outside of his

marriage has basically consumed all of his income. While Appellant argues that his monthly expenses are "suspect" (Appellant's Brief, pp. 13-14) they are no more suspect than those claimed by Appellant. In fact, however, a review of Exhibit 4 showing Respondent's expenses as compared with Exhibit 11 showing Appellant's expenses reveals that his are much more realistic and less likely to be inflated. The present debts of Respondent, the requirement to pay \$450 in child support, plus the costs of the litigation do not permit him to support his otherwise self-sustaining wife. The award of \$250 a month for a two-year period was essentially all that Respondent could have borne under the best of circumstances.

In awarding Appellant the furniture items valued at \$6,000 the court accomplished the goal of giving her something of value for her alimony award without further draining the resources of Respondent. It should also be remembered that while the court officially awarded her the furniture and ring in her possession it also allowed her to keep all of the money which she expended during Respondent's absence in Korea which was a sum over \$15,000. This result was certainly more equitable than requiring her to pay to him either \$6,000 or \$3,000 for the value of the furniture and then requiring him to pay to her \$250 a month for a two-year period. The lower court was entitled to great latitude in determining the most equitable method of alimony distribution.

POINT II

THE PROPERTY DISTRIBUTION MADE BY THE LOWER COURT WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

Utah Code Annotated §30-3-5(1) (1989) requires that the property distribution in a divorce be "equitable". See also, Noble v. Noble, 761 P.2d 1369, 1373 (Utah 1988). The general purpose of the property distribution is to enable the former spouses to pursue their separate lives as well as possible. Burke v. Burke, 733 P.2d 133, 135 (Utah 1987). Appropriate considerations in dividing property include the amount and kind of property to be divided, the source of the property, the parties' health, the parties' standard of living and respective financial conditions, their needs and earning capacities, the duration of the marriage, and the relationship the property has with the amount of alimony awarded. Naranjo v. Naranjo, 751 P.2d 1144, 1147-48 (Utah App. 1988).

A review of the undisputed record in this case shows that while the parties incurred tremendous debt they have little tangible property to show for it. The North Carolina residence is a drain of some \$200 a month upon Respondent with little hope that any equity will ever be realized if the house should be sold. The only other property which is free and clear of debt consists of the furniture in Appellant's possession together with the items of personal clothing, etc. that each party and the child now maintain. In essence, Appellant received the only unencumbered marital property from the marriage.

While Respondent stated that he did not believe the property he acquired in New Mexico and Korea was marital property such statement has no legal effect regardless of its accuracy since there was no equity contained in this property because of the debt which Respondent had incurred and was still paying on at the time of divorce. Since the lower court specifically found that the parties have been living essentially separate lives with marriage as a mere convenience it is not unreasonable to divide the encumbered personal property in such a way that each person should receive both the property and the accompanying debt.

One other item should be mentioned in this regard. The lower court specifically required Respondent to divide his military pension at the appropriate time in accordance with the Woodward formula. Since Respondent was technically married to the Appellant for approximately eleven years it is very probable that at the time the pension vests Appellant will receive a fairly substantial sum. While this amount cannot be realized at the moment by Appellant it is essentially money in the bank which Appellant can count on for her future needs. The retirement benefit therefore will prove to be a substantial property distribution in the future even though the parties essentially have nothing at the present to divide.

Finally, it should be noted that while Appellant complains about the distribution of the lower court she makes no suggestion for an alternative resolution. It is submitted that based upon the high debt involved in this marriage as compared with the low asset value that the lower court did everything it could in

equitably providing for the parties. There was simply nothing left to distribute. The court did not abuse its discretion.

POINT III

THE AWARD OF ATTORNEYS FEES BY THE LOWER COURT WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

A trial court has the authority to award attorneys' fees in divorce proceedings. Rasband v. Rasband, 752 P.2d 1331, 1336 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). The decision to award fees rests within the sound discretion of the trial court, but must be based on evidence of financial need and reasonableness. Huck v. Huck, 734 P.2d 417, 419 (Utah 1986).

Respondent acknowledges that the hourly rate charged by Appellant's attorney was reasonable under the circumstances. He, in fact, incurred nearly an identical amount of fees of \$2,500 for his attorneys. He did maintain, however, that much of the expenses involved in the case occurred because of the unreasonable demand of his wife in requesting a \$1,500 child support and alimony monthly payment which was clearly beyond any reasonable means of Respondent. (Tr. pp. 132-35).

While it is true that Respondent makes a greater salary each year than does Appellant it is also true that the debt service now carried by Respondent is much greater especially in light of having to subsidize the North Carolina house. Since it was necessary for Respondent to borrow money just to pay his own attorneys (Tr. p. 161) it was not unreasonable for the court to decline to require additional loans to be taken by Respondent in order to pay for Appellant's attorney. Proportionately, each

party is in the exact financial situation based upon their income and obligations. The court found neither party to be at fault in this marriage and therefore it is fair that both parties share the burden of litigation.

For this reason, the award was in fact reasonable and should be allowed to stand.

POINT IV

APPELLANT SHOULD BE DENIED ATTORNEYS' FEES ON THIS APPEAL.

This Court may order either party to pay attorneys' fees under Utah Code Annotated §30-3-3 (1989) including attorneys' fees incurred on appeal. Ostler v. Ostler, 131 Utah Adv. Rep. 15, 17 (Utah Ct. App. 1990); Bagshaw v. Bagshaw, 788 P.2d 1057, 1061 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

Before an appellate attorneys' fee can be awarded the requesting party must prevail on at least a majority of the issues raised on appeal. Further, it must be shown that the appellate fees are reasonable and that the requesting party is in need of financial assistance. Bagshaw, 129 Utah Adv. Rep. at 55.

Here, it is submitted that Appellant will not prevail in this appeal since the alimony award was fair under the circumstances of this case as was the property distribution. Moreover, the lower court attorneys' fees were well within the discretion of the lower court.

Even assuming arguendo that she prevails on any issue in this appeal the record is clear that her financial situation

especially now that she has presumably graduated with her master's degree does not establish a greater financial need than that of Respondent with his numerous debts and encumbrances. The reasonableness of any attorney fee would, of course, have to be determined in an evidentiary hearing even if the previous two conditions were deemed satisfied.

For these reasons, therefore, attorneys' fees on appeal should be denied.

CONCLUSION

The appellant in this case has selectively plucked the record to fit her own needs and arguments. She has failed to marshal the evidence as is required in order to allow this Court to review the entire scope of evidence available to the trial court at the time the award was made. This fact alone should require affirmance of the decision.

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